
If you require an adjustment to enable you to participate or access the meeting, please 
contact the Democratic Services team at least 48 hours before the meeting. 

ASHFIELD DISTRICT COUNCIL  
 
 

Council Offices, 
Urban Road, 

Kirkby in Ashfield 
Nottingham 
NG17 8DA 

 

Agenda 
 
Council 
 
 

Date: Thursday, 2nd December, 2021 

Time: 4.30 pm 

Venue: 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, Urban Road, 
Kirkby-in-Ashfield 

  

For any further information please contact: 
 

Lynn Cain 
 

lynn.cain@ashfield.gov.uk 
 

01623 457317 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

COUNCIL 

Membership 

 

Chairman: Councillor Arnie Hankin 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor John Smallridge 

 
Councillors:  
John Baird Chris Baron 
Kier Barsby Jamie Bell 
Jim Blagden Will Bostock 
Christian Chapman Melanie Darrington 
Samantha Deakin Andy Gascoyne 
Dale Grounds Andrew Harding 
David Hennigan Tom Hollis 
Trevor Locke Rachel Madden 
Sarah Madigan David Martin 
Andy Meakin Lauren Mitchell 
Keir Morrison Warren Nuttall 
Matthew Relf Kevin Rostance 
Phil Rostance Dave Shaw 
Helen-Ann Smith David Walters 
Lee Waters Caroline Wilkinson 
Daniel Williamson John Wilmott 
Jason Zadrozny  

 
 
 

FILMING/AUDIO RECORDING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be subject to filming or audio recording. If you have any queries 
regarding this, please contact Members’ Services on 01623 457317. 
 
 

SUMMONS 
 
You are hereby requested to attend a meeting of the Council to be held at the time/place 
and on the date mentioned above for the purpose of transacting the business set out 
below. 
 

 
Theresa Hodgkinson 
Chief Executive 



 

 

AGENDA Page 
 
1.   To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary or Personal Interests 
and/or Non-Registrable Interests.  
 
 

 

3.   To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting of the Council held on 23 September 2021.  
 
 

7 - 18 

4.   To receive any announcements from the Chairman, Leader, 
Members of the Cabinet and the Head of Paid Service.  
 
 

 

5.   To receive questions from the Public in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 11, if any.  
(None received for this meeting) 
 

 

 
6.   To receive and consider any petitions submitted in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rule 12, if any.  
 
Petition 1 
To consider a petition submitted by Mandy Shaw with 7653 
signatories (3504 e-petition and 4149 paper signatures) as follows:-  
 
“We the undersigned petition the council to reject the proposal to 
permit the development of the Greenbelt land in and around Whyburn 
Farm, Hucknall.” 
 
Petition 2 
To consider a petition submitted by Laura Gapski subject to 
confirmation that the total number of signatures reaches the threshold 
of 1500 signatories by the petition closing date of 1 December 2021:-  
 
“We the undersigned petition the council to Reject the proposal to 
permit the development of 1000 homes, a school and associated 
amenities, in accordance with the Draft Local Plan 2020-2038 on the 
greenfield land around Cauldwell Road and Derby Road, Sutton-In-
Ashfield.” 
 

 

 
7.   In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2 (viii) to receive 

reports from the Cabinet in relation to the Council's budget and 
policy framework, reports of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for debate and reports from Officers of the Council:-  
 
 

 



 

a   Report on an Urgent Key Decision.  
 

 

b   Safer Streets Funding and Initiatives.  
 
 

19 - 26 

8.   In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2 (ix), to receive 
recommendations from the Cabinet and the Council's 
Committees and resolve in accordance with the Council's rules 
of debate as per the attached schedule.  
 
 

27 - 66 

9.   Updates from Members of the Cabinet on their Portfolio Activity.  
 
 

 

10.   Notices of Motion.  
 
Motion 1 
To consider a notice of motion proposed by Councillor Lauren Mitchell 
and seconded by Councillor Kevin Rostance, as follows:- 
 
“Considerable opposition to the development proposals within the 
Draft Local Plan to expand Hucknall has been advanced by the 
people of Hucknall. 
 
This Council therefore resolves to request the Cabinet (in conjunction 
with the Local Plan Steering Group) to fully take into account the 
consultation submissions and to address the opposition to the Draft 
Local Plan by the people of Hucknall by: 
 
a) Urgently reviewing, with a view to considering whether to amend 

at the earliest possible opportunity, this version of the Draft Local 
Plan which objectors consider allocates a disproportionate number 
of new dwellings to Hucknall and destroys a significant portion of 
Green Belt land; and 

 
b) Considering whether to replace it, at the earliest possible 

opportunity, with an amended Draft Local Plan that places greater 
weight upon the scale of development that has already occurred 
and been allocated in Hucknall, that allocates a greater level of 
new housing beyond Hucknall across Ashfield District, and that 
seeks to ensure that any such Plan is sustainable. 

 
c) Considering the adequacy of all infrastructure and services for 

such development as is proposed for Hucknall.” 
 

 

 
11.   To answer any questions submitted in writing by Members in 

accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13, if any.  
 
Question 1 
Question from Councillor Keir Morrison to the Portfolio Holder for 
Parks, Town Centres and Neighbourhood Services: 

 



 

 
“It has been revealed that Piggins Croft car park in Hucknall is 
Ashfield District Councils' preferred location for the development of a 
new health facility.  If the build goes ahead, could the portfolio holder 
tell us where and how the council proposes to replace and increase 
lost town centre car parking?” 
 

 
12.   To receive a list of minutes and a web link to access Cabinet and 

Committee meeting minutes that have been published since the 
last ordinary meeting of the Council for Members to give notice 
of their intention to ask a question of a relevant Chairman under 
Procedure Rule 13.2.  
(None received for this meeting) 
 

67 - 68 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

COUNCIL 
 

Meeting held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Urban Road, Kirkby-in-Ashfield, 
 

on Thursday, 23rd September, 2021 at 7.00 pm 
 
 

Present:  
 

Councillor Arnie Hankin in the Chair; 

 Councillors John Baird, Chris Baron, 
Kier Barsby, Jamie Bell, Will Bostock, 
Christian Chapman, Melanie Darrington, 
Samantha Deakin, Andy Gascoyne, 
Dale Grounds, Andrew Harding, 
David Hennigan, Tom Hollis, Trevor Locke, 
Rachel Madden, David Martin, Andy Meakin, 
Lauren Mitchell, Keir Morrison, Warren Nuttall, 
Matthew Relf, Kevin Rostance, Phil Rostance, 
Dave Shaw, John Smallridge, Helen-Ann Smith, 
David Walters, Lee Waters, Caroline Wilkinson, 
Daniel Williamson, John Wilmott and 
Jason Zadrozny. 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillors Jim Blagden and Sarah Madigan. 
 

Officers Present: Lynn Cain, Ruth Dennis, Katherine Green, 
Theresa Hodgkinson, Peter Hudson, Mike Joy 
and Shane Wright. 
 

 
 

C.34 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary or Personal Interests 
and/or Non-Registrable Interests 
 

 No declarations of interest were made. 
 
 

C.35 Minutes 
 

 RESOLVED 
that the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 29 July 2021, as now 
submitted, be received and approved. 
 
 

C.36 Announcements from the Chairman, Leader, 
Members of the Cabinet and the Head of Paid Service 
 

 The Chairman took the opportunity to announce that Members would be 
requested, at agenda item 7, to vote in a new Chairman and Vice Chairman of 
the Covid-19 Recovery Scrutiny Panel.  He also mentioned that the District 
were aware of 3 outstanding sports people within Ashfield that should be 
commemorated for their achievements and in the near future the Council 
would be arranging something for them to mark their successes. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

 
The Leader also welcomed Theresa Hodgkinson to the Chamber for the first 
time in her position as the new Chief Executive.  He reiterated that she was 
the first permanent female Chief Executive since Ashfield District Council’s 
inception in 1974 and that she had full and unequivocal support from the 
Chamber. 
 
 

C.37 Questions from the Public 
 

 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the following question had 
been submitted by Mr. Stewart Chalkley. 
 
“QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL HOUSING. 
 
Ashfield District Council is proposing to develop housing on the 
allotment site on Wesley Street, Annesley Woodhouse. There has 
been a tremendous amount of inaccurate and mistruths coming from 
elected members of the Ashfield Independents. 
 
CAN YOU, THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR SOCIAL HOUSING, 
PLEASE TELL ME: 
 
As residents form Annesley want to produce their own fruit and 
vegetables, why has this site been targeted for development, when 
there is a waiting list for occupation?” 
 
The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Council and Social Housing, 
Councillor Tom Hollis, responded to the question as follows:- 
 
“Thank you Mr. Chalkley for asking the question…and although many 
members of the public don’t take the opportunity to ask many questions at 
these meetings, I certainly welcome the fact that you not only engage with the 
process but that you have come forward to ask the question.  I appreciate that 
and I welcome your engagement. 
 
Just to be clear Mr. Chalkley, and I hope you are happy with this, the Council 
as you have noticed is looking to improve a number of grot spots and 
underused areas across Ashfield and is trying to get the best use out of the 
land that Ashfield District Council is responsible for on behalf of the public.  
You would however appreciate that unlike private organisations the Council 
quite rightly follows a transparent process about considering its options. 
 
Many of these options do include my portfolio in social housing.  You will 
understand that we have a massive, long waiting list and only 7,500 houses to 
put people in.  So often that is always a consideration on any site that we 
consider and in fact the Council has purchased a number of empty properties 
to clear them up and turn them into social housing and we also buy social 
housing off developers etc. 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

Particularly in relation to this site I probably am frustrated that you seem to 
have been misled by potentially other parties’ interests.  In fact, the site is a 
site that, while we considered our option for housing and going back to the 
point that any option we consider has to be in the public setting, quite rightly as 
your frustrations have been made clear, it is an allotment site and an allotment 
site that has a waiting list. 
 
My colleague, sat to the left of me, Councillor Deakin, is the portfolio holder for 
said spaces and I am aware of her having an ambition to look at turning this 
into a well-used site. Although I can’t say for sure what this Council is going to 
do Mr. Chalkley, it is a democratic process of which I’m only one thirty-fifth of 
the membership, I’d hope he’d trust that it is extremely likely that if he can read 
between the lines here, that this site will be made use of as an allotment site 
and I’d hope that he would help us in that endeavour Chairman.” 
 
The Chairman then gave Mr. Chalkley the opportunity to ask a supplementary 
question and he responded as follows:- 
 
“Thank you, Chairman, and thank you Councillor Hollis.  I think I’m pleased 
with your reply and it seems like it will be put back into allotments if that is the 
case.  Surely it would be better to put it back into allotments than spend 
£70,000 relinquishing a covenant that I’m sure the criteria for it have not been 
met.  I’ve been informed that Welbeck Estates and the National Allotment 
Society have opposed your proposals and they would like to see the 149 
people that are on the allotments waiting list for the Kirkby in Ashfield District 
alone, being accommodated.  So, I hope this can be done in the near future. 
 
Would someone please give me that assurance?” 
 
The Portfolio Holder for Council and Social Housing, responded to the 
supplementary question as follows:- 
 
“Yes, with a simple and clear answer that Mr. Chalkley will be very pleased 
with when the official outcome is made clear.  When the decision is made.” 
 
 

C.38 Petitions 
 

 No petitions were submitted for consideration. 
 
 

C.39 Urgent Item: Appointment of new Chairman and Vice Chairman of the 
Covid-19 Recovery Scrutiny Panel 
 

 In accordance with Council Rule of Procedure 5.1 (Urgent Items), the 
Chairman agreed to take the following item of business as an urgent item and 
to consider it at this point in the proceedings.  The reason for the urgency was 
due to the current Covid-19 Recovery Scrutiny Panel Chairman’s recent illness 
and ongoing treatment.  All Members concurred with this course of action. 
 
RESOLVED  
a) that the following re-appointments be made to the Covid-19 Recovery 

Scrutiny Panel: 

Page 9



 

 

Chairman: Councillor Will Bostock to replace Councillor 
Jim Blagden 
 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Davide Hennigan to replace 
Councillor Will Bostock 

 
b) the Council’s heartfelt thoughts be forwarded to Councillor Jim Blagden 

with best wishes for a speedy recovery. 
 
 

C.40 Appointment to Outside Body 
 

 Council was requested to re-appoint two representatives to an Outside Body. 
 
RESOLVED  
that Councillors Chris Baron and Jim Blagden be re-appointed as the Council’s 
representatives on the Hucknall Relief in Need Charity for the term ending 30 
November 2024. 
 
 

C.41 Recommendations from the Cabinet and the Council's Committees 
 

 In accordance with the Council Procedure Rule 2(ix), Council considered the 
following recommendations:- 
 
Minute No. CA.22 
Cabinet – 20 September 2021 
Public Spaces Protection Order 2021 Extension & Variation 
 
RESOLVED 
that approval be given to the extension, variation and associated budget for 
the existing Public Spaces Protection Order, as set out in the draft order 
appended to the Cabinet report, to commence on 1st October 2021. 
 
Minute No. CA.22 
Cabinet – 20 September 2021 
2021/22 Forecast Outturn for General Fund, Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
and Capital Programme as at July 2021 
 
RESOLVED 
that the amendments and the addition of new schemes to the Capital 
Programme 2021/22 to 2025/26 and the funding of the Capital Programme, as 
set out in Section 7 and Appendix 3 of the Cabinet report, subject to an 
amendment to the original recommendation to allow the £700k budget 
increase for the Depot Roof to be funded by Capital Receipts rather than 
borrowing (resulting in the full value of the roof being funded from Capital 
Receipts at £950k), be approved. 
 
Minute No. CA.22 
Cabinet – 20 September 2021 
Public Open Space and Playing Pitch Strategy Updates 
 

Page 10



 

RESOLVED 
the mid-point review and update of the Public Open Space Strategy action 
plan, as outlined in the Cabinet report, be approved. 
 
Minute No. CA.22 
Cabinet – 20 September 2021 
Towns Fund and Future High Streets Fund 
 
(At this point in the proceedings, Councillor Chris Baron, on behalf of himself 
and Councillor Melanie Darrington, declared a Non-Registrable Interest in 
relation to this item due to one of the buildings earmarked for purchase being 
their current place of work.  Their interests were such that that remained in the 
meeting and took part in the discussion and voting thereon.) 
 
RESOLVED 
approval be given to accept the Early Release Towns Fund Capital Funding, 
including the funding within the Capital Programme and delegate allocation of 
the funds to the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Planning and the 
Corporate Finance Manager (and S151 Officer), in consultation with the 
Discover Ashfield Board. 
 
 

C.42 Updates from Members of the Cabinet on their Portfolio Activity 
 

 Councillor Kier Barsby - Portfolio Holder for Environmental Improvements, 
Corporate Communications and Cross Portfolio Support 
 

 Success of four open air cinema events 
 

 Future High Streets Fund and Towns Fund ongoing development including 
Moor Market  

 

 26 press releases since last Council meeting regarding, amongst others, 
Hucknall and Kirkby Leisure Centre and Moor Market 

 

 Promotion of the recent Vaccination Bus and its locations 
 

 Website continuing to meet all accessibility requirements with all 
documents checked before publication 

 

 Updated Mod.Gov system went live in August 2021 with upgrades to 
Members’ IPads 

 

 100 new online forms now available on the Council’s website 
 

 New Events website page currently being developed 
 

 Covid Scrutiny Panel continuing to focus on District recovery and 
Standards Working Group progressing with work on the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, Standards in Public Life recommendations and the Complaints 
process 

 
 

Page 11



 

 Legal continuing to support officers particularly with Community Safety and 
the new Public Spaces Protection Order and CCTV Policy 

 

 The 2021 election canvass had received a good response with face-to-face 
and doorstep canvassing returning (with Covid-secure processes in place) 

 

 The Polling Places Review Working Group to be reconvened imminently. 
 

Councillor Matthew Relf - Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Planning 
 

 The Draft Local Plan consultation exercise commencement date of 4 
October 2021 with wide ranging promotion across all Council media 
platforms  

 

 Concerns around the 457 Government housing allocation for Ashfield for 
each year (resulting in a total of 8,226 for the life of the Plan) and 
subsequent lobbying of local MP’s to campaign to reduce Government 
housing requirements 

 

 Benefits of the new Draft Local Plan proposing two new mixed-use 
settlements with supporting and self-sustaining infrastructure. 

 
Councillor Sam Deakin - Portfolio Holder for Parks, Town Centres and 
Neighbourhood Services 
 

 The Towns ‘Welcome Back’ funding being utilised to promote the Council’s 
town centres including art exhibitions, music in towns, food and drinks 
festival, repainting of high street furniture and murals on buildings 

 

 Update on improvements to play facilities around the District including 
Titchfield Park, Hucknall, Huthwaite Welfare Park and Sudbury Drive Play 
Area 

 

 Masterplan progressing for Selston Country Park 
 

 Tree planting initiative now mapped out with work progressing with external 
partners 

 

 Waste Team continuing to provide an efficient service to the District 
 

 Thanks and appreciation to the Environment Team for supporting recent 
events on parks and in the town centres 

 

 Delivery of the Silverhill Pit Wheels from storage at the Depot back to the 
former Silverhill Colliery site. 

 
Councillor Rachel Madden - Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Health and Wellbeing 
 

 Events over the summer being a success including the food programmes, 
the ‘Feel Good Families’ events and Playfest which took place in the three 
designated priority areas 

 

Page 12



 

 The Premier League Kicks programme continuing to be facilitated in 
partnership with Nottingham Forest, Nottinghamshire Police and Sutton 
Academy 

 

 Applications for Ashfield Community Development Grants (as managed by 
Notts. Community Foundation) were now being taken with £10,000 of 
funding available 

 

 Production of a ‘Feeding Ashfield’ educational leaflet 
 

 Volunteering opportunities continuing to open up with details on the 
Council’s website 

 

 Success of four open air cinema events 
 

 Ongoing recruitment for a new Events & Place Officer 
 

 Improvement and build works continuing at the Lammas, Hucknall and new 
Kirkby Leisure Centres. 

 
Councillor John Wilmott - Portfolio Holder for Licensing, Environmental Health 
and Regulatory Services 
 

 High risk inspections continuing with full service being resumed 
 

 Highest ever rate of food premise applications with a 28 day turnaround 
being achieved 

 

 Animal welfare inspections are now commencing as a priority 
 

 Air and water quality inspections are continuing 
 

 Recently advertised for four new members of staff with appointments 
hopefully being made by the end of October 

 

 Increase in new driver and vehicle licence applications following update to 
taxi licensing fees schedule 

 

 Recruitment of new Licensing Officer 
 

 Income stream continuing from pavement licences 
 

 Traders being offered licensing payment schemes and instalments to assist 
them to recover business following the pandemic 

 

 Alcohol and Entertainment applications are back up to pre-Covid levels 
 

 Currently out to consultation on the statutory Gambling Policy review 
 

 Recent update to the Aids and Adaptations Policy and an increase to the 
level of Disabled Facilities Grant available 

 

Page 13



 

 Selective Licensing Scheme review underway and being reported to 
Cabinet in December. 

 
 

C.43 Notice of Motion 1 
 

 The Council received a notice of motion moved by Councillor Helen-Ann Smith 
and seconded by Councillor Dave Shaw as follows:- 
 
“Ashfield District Council notes the government’s Elections Bill, which is 

undergoing its second reading in the House of Commons, will require 

individuals to show photographic ID for UK Parliamentary elections in Great 

Britain, local elections in England, and Police and Crime Commissioner 

elections in England and Wales. 

It further notes a Cabinet Office impact assessment that estimates the policy 

will cost up to £180million.  £180million would buy 15,316 hip operations, 

5,986 new ventilators or 9.9million hours of tutoring in schools.   

This Council acknowledges that there were 171 allegations of in-person voter 

fraud at polling stations in Local and Parliamentary elections from 2014 to 

2019 - of which three led to a conviction.   

This Council believes that at a time when the country is facing huge financial 

challenges due to COVID-19, spending up to £180million over ten years on a 

Voter ID scheme to make it harder for people to vote in elections is wrong both 

morally and shows a lack of priorities.   

Ashfield District Council believes that Voter Identification laws are a costly 

solution to a problem that does not exist and is a distraction from our recovery 

from Covid-19. 

This Council notes the views of charities including Save the Children, 

independent campaign groups such as Greenpeace, and the trades union 

movement, who have condemned the Election’s Bill as “…an attack on the 

UK’s proud democratic tradition and some of our most fundamental rights”. 

The types of ID accepted include passports, driving licences and blue badge 

cards, yet according to a UK-wide study commissioned by the Cabinet Office, 

more than 2 million people lack the necessary ID to take part in UK elections.   

This Council believes that thousands of residents in the Ashfield District do not 

own photo ID.  These proposed laws will disproportionally effect areas with 

higher levels of deprivation across the Ashfield District.  Poorer residents, the 

elderly, the young and people with disabilities will be impacted.   

Ashfield District Council therefore agrees to write to the Secretary of State for 

Justice, who is responsible for constitutional affairs and all Nottinghamshire 

MPs requesting that they oppose the photo identification element of the 

Elections Bill currently going through Parliament.” 

Having been fully considered, the motion was put to the vote and it was 
 
 
RESOLVED 

Page 14



 

that the Council agrees to write to the Secretary of State for Justice, who is 
responsible for constitutional affairs and all Nottinghamshire MPs requesting 
that they oppose the photo identification element of the Elections Bill currently 
going through Parliament. 
 
 

C.44 Notice of Motion 2 
 

 The Council received a notice of motion moved by Councillor David Martin and 
seconded by Councillor Lee Waters as follows:- 
 
“Ashfield District Council notes that General practice in England has faced an 

extremely challenging time during the COVID-19 pandemic.  It further notes 

that according to the latest figures available from the Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group – nearly 25,000 residents 

across Nottinghamshire had to wait more than a month for a GP appointment 

in June and that nearly 40% of residents don’t have access to face to face 

consultations anymore. 

Ashfield District Council believes that access to a GP is a post-code lottery 

and is creating a health care crisis which is especially acute in places like 

Hucknall and the Selston Parish.   

This Council believes that residents should have access to high-quality GP 

care when they need it.  

This Council notes with the number of GPs falling - due to lack of recruitment 

and retention and with the population rising, demands on GPs are higher than 

ever. There are millions of patients whose treatment has been delayed due to 

the pandemic, more tests to administer and additional bureaucracy.  GP 

workload is becoming unmanageable. 

GPs and their teams cannot meet this challenge without more support.  

This Council is calling on the UK Government to provide the funding and 

commitment needed to urgently increase the number of GPs, practice nurses 

and other practice staff and to improve the premises in which they work. This 

will help GP practices in the Ashfield District and across England to meet the 

growing needs of people in our communities, providing the care we and our 

families need. 

This Council backs the campaign by the British Medical Association – “Support 

your Surgery” – which calls for Government investment in general practice to 

provide better services, better buildings and more GPs and practice staff.  

This Council therefore resolves to write to the Secretary of State for Health 

and Social Care – the Right Honourable Sajid Javid MP and Lucy Dadge, the 

Chief Commissioning Officer of the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group highlighting the health inequalities that exist in 

the Ashfield District.” 

Having been fully considered, the motion was put to the vote and it was 
 
 
RESOLVED 

Page 15



 

that the Council writes to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, the 
Right Honourable Sajid Javid MP and Lucy Dadge, the Chief Commissioning 
Officer of the NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group, highlighting the health inequalities that exist in the Ashfield District. 
(In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 23 (Conclusion of Proceedings), it 
was moved by Councillor Jason Zadrozny and seconded by Councillor Helen-
Ann Smith that the conclusion of proceedings be extended to 9.30pm 
accordingly. Having been put to the vote, the Council agreed with this course 
of action.) 
 
 

C.45 Notice of Motion 3 
 

 The Council received a notice of motion moved by Councillor Jason Zadrozny 
and seconded by Councillor Samantha Deakin as follows:-  
 
“Ashfield District Council notes with regret that tens of thousands of families 

claiming Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits in the county will lose more 

than £1,000 a year when the uplift to the benefits is lifted.  The Government 

plan to remove its £20 per week uplift – brought in to support struggling 

families through the pandemic from October 6. 

This Council notes that 5 out of 10 people affected by this are in work yet the 

Government claim that stopping this uplift is “…a shift to getting people back to 

work.”  This Council therefore believes that stopping this uplift is purely an 

ideological attack on the poorest residents of Ashfield and the rest of the 

country.   

It will mean a loss of £1,040 to the current, overall annual package received by 

claimants in the Ashfield District, or around £86.66 per month.  This Council 

believes that these plans mean the biggest overnight reduction to a basic rate 

of social security since the modern welfare state began more than 70 years 

ago. 

This Council notes that families with children will be disproportionately 

impacted and six in 10 of all single-parent families in the UK will be impacted. 

In the Ashfield Constituency, this cut will adversely impact 9150 families.  In 

the Sherwood Constituency it will adversely impact 7520 families currently in 

receipt of Universal Credit or Working Tax credits according to figures 

released by the Joseph Roundtree Foundation. 

This Council believes: 

(1) That failing to maintain the recent uplift will have a devastating effect on 

16,670 families in the Ashfield and Sherwood constituencies at a time when 

they need financial support the most and will increase hardship and poverty for 

people who are already struggling. 

(2) That reducing benefits will have an adverse impact on child poverty, 

other poverty levels and the financial health and well-being of people of the 

poorest in our County. 

 

This Council therefore resolves to write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer - 

Page 16



 

The Rt Hon Rishi Sunak MP, the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions - 

Thérèse Coffey MP to ask them to reverse this decision and to strengthen the 

support offered by Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits.” 

Having been fully considered, the motion was put to the vote and it was 

RESOLVED 
that the Council writes to the Chancellor of the Exchequer, The Rt. Hon. Rishi 
Sunak MP and the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions, Thérèse Coffey 
MP, to ask them to reverse the decision and to strengthen the support offered 
by Universal Credit and Working Tax Credits. 
 
 

C.46 Questions received in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13 
 

 There were no questions submitted by Members. 
 
 

C.47 Questions received in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13.2 - In 
relation to Cabinet and Committee Meeting Minutes published since the 
last ordinary meeting of the Council 
 

 There were no questions submitted by Members. 
 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 9.08 pm  
 

 
 
Chairman. 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report To: COUNCIL 

Date: 2ND DECEMBER 2021 

Heading: SAFER STREETS FUNDING & INITIATIVES 

Portfolio Holder: 
CLLR HELEN-ANN SMITH, DEPUTY LEADER AND PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR COMMUNITY SAFETY AND CRIME REDUCTION 
 

Ward/s:  
CENTRAL AND NEW CROSS (ST. MARY’S, THE DALES, 
CARSIC AND LEAMINGTON) & DISTRICT WIDE INITIATIVES 

Key Decision: YES  

Subject to Call-In: YES  

 

Purpose of Report 

 
The purpose of the report is to recommend the acceptance of the Home Office 2021/22 (Round 3) 
Safer Streets funding from the Office of the Police and Crime for Nottinghamshire, and for the 
capital funding to be included in the Council’s Capital Programme.  
 
The report also illustrates additional funding that has been secured to support the implementation of 
key Community Safety initiatives throughout the District, all of which are fundamental to the delivery 
of the Council’s Corporate Plan and commitments set out for creating a safer and stronger District. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

 
1. Note the work that has been undertaken and continues to be developed to secure 

funding and deliver initiatives to improve Community Safety throughout the District. 
 

2. To authorise acceptance of the Safer Streets funding from the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner of Nottinghamshire (OPCC) and for the capital funding to be 
included as part of the Capital Programme. 

 

 

Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

 
The acceptance of the Safer Streets funding will enable various initiatives to be undertaken to 
address issues within Sutton-In-Ashfield that relates to the fear and perception of crime and anti-
social behaviour, vulnerability, and female safety.   
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7b



Alternative Options Considered 

 
For the Council not to accept the funding, however this will hinder the delivery of the project and 
may result in many of the initiatives set out as part of the Safer Streets agenda not being delivered. 

Detailed Information (Safer Streets) 

 
It was announced on 2nd October 2021 that the District of Ashfield has been awarded £550,000 for 
the delivery of the Safer Street’s agenda. A national programme that centralises its focus on 
addressing longstanding community concerns relating to women’s and girls’ safety, violence, and 
the perception of crime in public spaces.  
 
The main aims of the initiative are to: 
 

 Reduce VAWG (Violence Against Women and Girls) and increase women and girls’ feelings 
of safety in public spaces; 

 

 Build the evidence base for what works on reducing VAWG crimes and increasing women 
and girls’ feelings of safety in the public domain;  

 

 Improve the national and local data picture regarding VAWG crimes in public spaces, which 
could include increase reporting for some crime types; and  

 

 Make public spaces safer for all. 
 
The funding has been secured for Sutton-In-Ashfield due to the higher numbers of women and girls 
feeling unsafe in the area. Over a three-year period 47% of females felt unsafe in Sutton which is 
ranked the 5th highest across Nottinghamshire when key crimes and wider determinants were 
factored in. As part of the funding allocation framework, all public spaces within the area will be 
reviewed, however primacy focus will remain on Central & New Cross Wards including the town 
centre as the data suggests this is an area of prominence.  
 
The following themes will be undertaken throughout the delivery of the project: 
 
Theme 1 - Community Engagement and Assurance 
 
Various communication methods will be used to provide assurance and advice to make women and 
girls feel safer and more aware of the presence of CCTV. We will work with the private sector to 
develop a technical solution (free app) to help girls and women to use their smartphones to call for 
help if they feel uneasy or vulnerable. Domestic Abuse services will be commissioned to consult 
and work with local communities to explore how safety and perceptions of safety can be further 
improved. 
 
Theme 2 - Preventing Crime 
 
CCTV devices will be installed and upgraded at key locations throughout Sutton-In-Ashfield. A Safe 
Spaces Accreditation Scheme will also be established to enable small business to know how to 
support women and girls seeking help and we will fund CCTV to provide greater deterrent and 
detection capabilities. Nottinghamshire Police will pilot a scheme of undertaking high visibility 
patrols on public transport at key times to deter offences. A new Public Space and Cohesion Lead 
has been appointed to lead on this theme and will be reporting directly to the Council’s Community 
Safety Manager and OPCC.   

Page 20



 
Theme 3 – Enforcement 
 
There are opportunities to provide ANPR (Automatic Number Plate Recognition) on key arterial 
roads; up to ten new ANPR cameras will be installed to help deter and detect serious offences. High 
visibility patrols will be undertaken by the Council and Police in areas where feelings of being 
unsafe are highest and the top 10 offenders will be targeted which will be identified and reviewed 
through partnership operational tasking meetings, co-chaired by the Council and Police. 
 
Theme 4 – Improving the Environment 
 
Streetlights will be upgraded, and un-adopted land will be cleaned to make it feel safer and clean-up 
operations will be undertaken as part of the ‘designing out crime’ principles.  
 
Theme 5 – Changing Attitude/Behaviour 
 
There is support for new training to change attitudes and behaviours and to increase awareness for 
professionals on factors which drive fear of crime and increase vulnerability. Diversionary and 
training activities will be introduced to work with young and adult males and provide safety 
awareness for school/college girls. Local Police Officers and Council Officers will be trained by the 
voluntary and community sector on issues and concerns which make local girls and women feel 
unsafe. 
 
Theme 6 – Project Governance and Policy 
 
A Project Manager position will be established to support the management of the project and to 
ensure delivery timeframes remain within tolerance. A review of local transport policies will be 
undertaken to determine how safety and feelings of safety can be improved, with a particular focus 
on local bus services utilised within Sutton-In-Ashfield. 
 
 
Additional Community Safety initiatives being delivered for 2021/2022: 
 
In addition to the six above themes, a number of early intervention, preventative and educational 
initiatives are being delivered across the District to support the delivery of the Council’s Corporate 
and Partnership Plans as below: 
 

 Youth Intervention Project 

 Domestic Abuse Educational Programme   

 Redthread – King’s Mill Hospital Health interventions 

 Ashfield Vulnerable Adult Support Scheme  

 Sanctuary Scheme – Domestic Abuse Support 
 
 
Youth Intervention Project 
 
As part of this project, three designated Youth Workers will be seconded to Ashfield District Council 
to target anti-social behaviour (ASB) and local issues involving young people aged 10-19 within 
Ashfield for two evenings per week. The project work will: 
 

 Promote existing youth provision available to young people 

 Engage young people in positive activities 

Page 21



 Contribute to local intelligence gathering 

 Refer young people to other agencies 

 Reduce ASB within the District 

 Targeting individuals for focused youth work interventions 

 Change behaviour. 
 
- Funding Received – Total £28,750 (Approved by ODR) 
 
 
Domestic Abuse Educational Programme (GREAT) 
 
Twenty educational programmes will be delivered in Ashfield primary schools in high reporting 
areas for domestic violence. Good Relationships are Equal And Trusting (GREAT) is a fun and 
interactive project delivered to primary school pupils in Years 5 and 6 by Equation, a 
Nottinghamshire based specialist charity.  
 
Designed in collaboration with teachers and pupils, GREAT raises awareness about domestic 
violence, improves children’s access to support services, changes attitudes to prevent future 
domestic violence, and empowers young people to aspire towards healthy relationships. Two-hour 
lessons are delivered over a 4-week period to classes of approximately 30 children. Staff training 
will also be provided. 
 

- Funding Received – Total £17,250 (Approved by ODR) 
 
 
Redthread – King’s Mill Hospital Health Interventions 
 
This project funds a worker within the Youth Violence Intervention Programme, leading on work at 
King’s Mill Hospital which serves Ashfield, Mansfield and wider county areas, and with occasional 
support to the team at Queens Medical Centre, Nottingham.  
 
The role is primarily based at King’s Mill Hospital taking a lead in establishing a new service and 
being the main point of contact for referrals. Based in the Accident and Emergency department the 
worker supports young people who are experiencing trauma or tragedy, and their families, working 
with them in the Emergency Department, on the wards and when they are discharged into the 
community. 
 

- Funding Received – Total £6,000 for post contribution (Approved by ODR) 
 
 
Ashfield Vulnerable Adult Support Scheme (VASS) 
 
Ashfield District Council and Nottinghamshire Police have jointly launched a dedicated partnership 
vulnerability programme with a primary aim of reducing crime, anti-social behaviour and vulnerability 
through person centred interventions. A cohort of up to 15 adults will be managed at any one time; 
individuals in the cohort will often have complex support needs and will be diverted away from 
criminality/exploitation through providing wrap around support. The initiative is jointly overseen by a 
Community Safety Team Leader and Police Sergeant.  
 

- Funded through existing resources (No ODR Required) 
 
 

Page 22



 
Sanctuary Scheme 
 
The Sanctuary scheme is a homelessness prevention scheme that is administered by the Council to 
enable survivors of domestic abuse and their children to remain in safe accommodation by 
increasing the security of the home or alternative housing options. The Council receives a high 
number of requests relating to survivors and their housing needs and this grant funding will allow 
additional measures to be put in place to support survivors of domestic abuse. 
 

- Funding Received from Notts County Council, Total £30,000, £20,000 Match Funding and 
£10,000 intervention (Plan B) Budget (Approved by ODR) 

 

Implications 

Corporate Plan: 

The various initiatives support the theme of Safer and Stronger; and the vision of ensuring the 
foundations for a good quality of life are in place through place enhancement, increased 
surveillance, and reduced vulnerability.  

Legal: 

The current arrangements provided are in support of the Council’s crime and disorder duties set out 
in Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. [RD 17/11/2021] 
 

Finance:  

The Council has received an offer up to £271,500 from Office of the Police Crime Commissioner for 
Nottinghamshire for the Safer Streets programme (Round 3) to lead on a number of key areas 
outlined within the project. [BB 18/11/2021]. This has been illustrated in the proposed budget 
allocation plan below: 

 

Theme Themes and Interventions Budget 

Theme 1 Neighbourhood and Capacity Building  £30,000.00 

Theme 2 Public Safety and Cohesion Lead   £40,000.00 

Theme 2 Safe Spaces Accreditation Scheme  £40,000.00 

Theme 2 Safe Space Target Hardening (Business Support)  £50,000.00 

Theme 2 4 x Fixed CCTV or Upgrades (Capital)  £19,595.00 

Theme 2 1 x Deployable CCTV or Upgrades (Capital)  £6,500.00 

Theme 2 Gating Order (Revenue 3 years)  £7,000.00 

Theme 2 Gating Order (Capital)  £5,000.00 

Theme 3 Technological Safety Device / App Scheme  £15,00.00 

Theme 4 Making Safer Spaces (e.g. Unadopted Land)  £50,000.00 

Theme 5 Review of Transport Policy Procedures (e.g. buses)  £8,405.00 

   £271,500 

Page 23



 

 

 

Risk 

 

Budget Area Implication 
 

General Fund – Revenue Budget 
 

1. Addition to the revenue budget for 2021/22 of up 
to: £240,405 – Funded by the Office of the Police 
Crime Commissioner for Nottinghamshire for the 
Safer Streets programme 

  
 

General Fund – Capital 
Programme 
 

1. £31,095 to be added to the Capital Programme for 
Safer Streets in 2021/22– Funded by the Office of 
the Police Crime Commissioner for 
Nottinghamshire for the Safer Streets programme. 

 
2. To allow for a potential future increase to the Safer 

Streets Capital Scheme. This is to enable funding 
to be switched from the revenue allocation to 
deliver further capital elements should the needs 
arise.  This would only be actioned following 
agreement with the funding provider for the use of 
the funding.  This would reduce the amount added 
to the revenue budget in 2021/22.  

 
  

Housing Revenue Account – 
Revenue Budget 

 
N/A 
 
 

 
Housing Revenue Account – 
Capital Programme 
 

N/A 

Risk 
 

Mitigation  

 
Failure to spend the funding by 
31st March 2022 
 

 
A Project Board has been established which comprises of 
key officers from the Council, Police, Partners and OPCC.  
In addition, a performance framework has been 
implemented to ensure the project is delivered within 
tolerance and in accordance with the Home Office funding 
stipulations. 

Page 24



 

Human Resources: 

There are no HR implications in relation to the acceptance of funding, however there may be 
implications dependant on the requirements for the delivery of the initiatives which is not included in 
this report. 
 

Environmental/Sustainability: 

No issues identified.  
 

Equalities: 

 
The Safer Streets project is specifically designed to support women and girls feel safer, supporting 
the Council’s equalities principles encircled within the Council’s Corporate Equality and Inclusion 
Policy. The various initiatives are to be undertaken with due regard to Section 149 Equality Act 
2010. 
 

Other Implications: 

Not applicable 
 

Reason(s) for Urgency  

 
The urgency for a decision is pertinent due to the prescribed timeframe of 31st March 2022 for the 
delivery of the project, which entails procurement of CCTV and Street Lighting.  
 

Reason(s) for Exemption 

Not applicable 
 

Background Papers 

Not applicable 
 
 

Report Author and Contact Officer 

 
Antonio Taylor  
Community Safety Manager  
Place and Communities 
 
antonio.taylor@ashfield.gov.uk 
 
 
Service Director 
 
David Lawrence  
Interim Director - Place and Communities 

Page 25

mailto:antonio.taylor@ashfield.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting of the Council 
2 December 2021 

Schedule of Recommendations 
N.B. 
The Schedule sets out recommendations from the Cabinet and the Council’s Committees upon which Council is required to 
reach a decision. During discussion of these items Council Procedure Rule 16 applies (Rules of Debate). Speeches must be 
relevant to the item being debated. Speeches do not have to be in the form of, or include a question. Members may speak 
for up to 5 minutes. The Chairman may allow a further 2 minutes at his/her discretion. A Member may only speak once on a 
motion but may also speak once on an amendment. 

 

 
Meeting: 

 

Minute 
No: 

Subject:  Recommendation(s): 

 
Licensing 
Committee 
11 November 2021 

 
L.10 

 
Review of the Statement of 
Gambling Policy 

 
Council be recommended to adopt the revised Statement of 
Gambling Policy and to maintain the “No Casino” Resolution, 
effective from 31st January 2022. 
 
(Report attached at Appendix A) 
 

 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report To: LICENSING COMMITTEE 

Date: 11TH NOVEMBER 2021 

Heading: REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY 

Portfolio Holder: DEPUTY LEADER – OUTWARD FOCUS 

Ward/s:  ALL 

Key Decision: YES 

Subject to Call-In: NO 

 

Purpose of Report 

 
To agree a Draft Revised Statement of Gambling Policy for adoption by Council. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

 
The Licensing Committee is recommended to: 
 

a) Consider any comments received on the revised Draft Revised Statement of 
Gambling Policy as detailed within this report;  

b) Resolve whether any amendments to the revised draft Statement of Gambling 
Policy are necessary in light of any comments received; and permit the Licensing 
Manager & Director: Place & Communities to make any appropriate amendments; 
and 
 

c) Subject to any amendments to the draft Policy, recommend Council to adopt the 
revised Statement of Gambling Policy and to maintain the “No Casino” Resolution 
at its meeting on 2nd December 2021, effective from 31st January 2022. 

 

 

Reasons for Recommendation(s) 

 
The Council is obliged to determine and publish a "Statement of Gambling Policy" and to keep it 
under review and to republish it at least every three years.  The Statement of Gambling Policy sets 
out how the Licensing Authority intends to exercise its functions under the 2005 Act.  
 
The current Policy is nearing the end of its three year life span, and as such, requires updating and 
republishing. 

Appendix A

Page 29



 
At its meeting on 9th September 2021, the Committee agreed a revised draft Statement of Gambling 
Policy, and requested that the Licensing Manager carry out a 6 week consultation seeking 
comments in relation to the draft revised Policy. 

Alternative Options Considered 

(with reasons why not adopted) 
 
Do nothing: not recommended for a number of reasons. 
 
The Council has a duty to carry out its licensing functions in accordance with the relevant legislation 
and regulations in force for each of the functions detailed within this report. 
 
By carrying out its licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will contribute towards the reduction 
of crime and disorder within the District, and seek to improve community safety and environmental 
quality, whilst in turn seeking to promote a vibrant and sustainable local economy. 
 

Detailed Information 

 
Introduction 
 
The Committee is reminded that all Licensing Authorities have adopted a Gambling Policy 
Statement (originally adopted on 31st December 2007).  This Statement must promote the three 
licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005 (the 2005 Act), which are:  
 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder 
 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
 

• Protecting children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling 

 
The Council is obliged to determine and publish a "Statement of Gambling Policy" and to keep it 
under review and to republish it at least every three years. In preparing the Statement, Licensing 
Authorities must follow the procedure set out in the 2005 Act, including who should be consulted.  
The Policy sets out how the Licensing Authority intends to exercise its functions under the 2005 
Act. 
 
In drafting the original policy, considerable work was done by a team of officers from 
Nottinghamshire districts on drafting a common ‘core’ Statement of Gambling Policy that each 
district adapted for its own use.  
 
The Council has continued to work with other Licensing Authorities in Nottinghamshire and others 
nationally, so that a consistent approach is taken to assist applicants for licences and those who 
may wish to make representations under the provisions of the 2005 Act.  
 
Gambling Commission: Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities 
 
In carrying out its functions the Council must also have regard to the “Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities” issued by the Gambling Commission (being the unified regulator for gambling in Great 
Britain).  
 

Page 30



The Guidance prescribes what must be included in an Authority’s Policy content in the interest of 
national consistency. The Council therefore has limited scope to make significant changes to the 
Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy. However where there are good reasons, the Policy can 
depart from the Guidance in order to reflect local circumstances. 
 
The Guidance also provides clarity on the importance of the Statement of Gambling Licensing 
Policy as a regulatory tool and includes guidance on the development of “Local Area Profiles”. 

 
Functions of the Licensing Authority 
 
The 2005 Act gives Licensing Authorities a number of important regulatory functions in 
relation to gambling. Their main functions are to: 
 

• licence premises for gambling activities 

• consider notices given for the temporary use of premises for gambling 

• grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and miners’ welfare institutes 

• regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol-licensed premises 

• grant permits to family entertainment centres (FECs) for the use of certain lower stake gaming 
machines 

• grant permits for prize gaming 

• consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks 

• register small societies’ lotteries. 
 
 
Licensing Authorities also have an obligation to provide information to the Gambling Commission, 
including details of licences, permits and registrations issued by way of the submission to the 
Gambling Commission of an “annual return”. 
 
Licensing Authorities also carry out inspections of licensed premises in order to ensure they are 
run in accordance with the three licensing objectives and the conditions applied to the licences. 
During the period since the last Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy no issues of non-
compliance were found, and no complaints about these premises were received. 

 
This highlights that the previous and current Policy provided a transparent platform from which 
Operators of licensed premises could manage their businesses, and clear guidance as to how 
these Operators would meet with the licensing objectives.  
 
No Casino Resolution 
 
Ashfield District Council has previously passed a ‘No Casino’ Resolution (in accordance with S.166 
of the 2005 Act). This has the effect that the Licensing Authority will not consider any application 
for a casino premises licence.  Any application received will be returned with a notification that a 
'No Casino' Resolution is in place. 

 
As Ashfield was not one of the chosen 17 locations for a casino to be sited (17 being the maximum 
number of locations permitted), unless the 2005 Act changes Ashfield is not able to entertain 
applications for casinos. 
 
On each occasion that the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy is renewed, and approved by 
Council, the ‘No Casino’ Resolution remains in force. Members of this Committee are asked as a 
matter of good process (even though Ashfield is not able to entertain such applications for casinos) 
to consider whether such a Resolution should be retained, and if so, to recommend such to Council. 

Page 31



 
To assist this Committee, when the Policy was last reviewed in 2013, the Committee resolved to 
maintain the “No Casino” Resolution in order to future-proof any potential changes to the 2005 Act. 
 
Amendments & Additions to the Statement of Gambling Policy 
 
In light of there being no amendments to the Gambling Act 2005, or to the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities since the 2018 review carried out by Ashfield District Council, 
and in line with the other Nottinghamshire Councils, no additions or amendments to the existing 
Policy have been made. 
 
Consultation on the Draft Revised Statement of Licensing Policy 
 
The draft Revised Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy was approved by the Committee prior 
to its publication.  
 
The consultation timetable to be followed is detailed below: 

 

• 9th September 2021: Licensing Committee to agree that the draft revised Statement of 
Licensing Policy be put out to consultation. 

 

• Consultation between 13th September 2021 and 24th October 2021 with the “Responsible 
Authorities” (Police, Fire and Rescue, Trading Standards, Planning, Environmental 
Protection, Child Protection, Health & Safety), representatives of current licence holders 
and registered clubs, and others including Community Safety, Building Control and the local 
Accident and Emergency Department, and the general public via the Council’s website. The 
general public will have access to the consultation via the Council’s website, reception area 
and local libraries. 

 

• 11th November 2021: the results of the consultation will be put to the Licensing Committee 
for consideration, and to make any relevant changes to the Policy to finalise accordingly, 
and to make a recommendation to Council to adopt the final Policy. 

 

• 2nd December 2021: The Licensing Committee’s recommendation is put to Council to adopt 
the revised final Policy. 

 
Responses to the Consultation 
 
No valid responses were received during the consultation period.  
 
The only enquiries received were from those seeking assurance that their Small Society Lottery 
Clubs were not affected by anything within the updated Policy (and such assurances were provided 
by the Licensing Manager). 
 

Implications 

 

Corporate Plan: 

 
The Council has a duty to carry out its licensing functions in accordance with the relevant legislation 
and regulations in force for each of the functions detailed within this report. 

Page 32



 
By carrying out its licensing functions, the Licensing Authority will contribute towards the reduction 
of crime and disorder within the District, and seek to improve community safety and environmental 
quality, whilst in turn seeking to promote a vibrant and sustainable local economy. 

Legal: 

 
Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Licensing Authority to prepare and publish a 
Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy every 3 years. The next Statement must be published by 
31st January 2022. 

 
Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Authority to have regard to the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance when preparing its Policy.  
 
Any other legal implications relating to the Statement of Gambling Licensing Policy are detailed 
within the 2005 Act. 

Finance: 

 
There are no financial implications contained within this report.  
 
This report is effective from 11th November 2021 and has the following financial implications. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Human Resources: 

 
There are no direct HR implications contained within this report 

Environmental/Sustainability 

 
By approving this Policy, the Council is able to control Betting and Gaming throughout the District, 
ensuring the protection and sustainability of the local environment. 

Budget Area Implication 

General Fund – Revenue Budget None 

General Fund – Capital Programme None 

Housing Revenue Account – Revenue Budget None 

Housing Revenue Account – Capital Programme None 

Risk Mitigation  

The Council has a statutory duty 
to carry out its licensing 
functions. 
 

Approved processes, procedures and policies are in 
force to ensure that the Licensing Authority minimises 
any risks it may be exposed to when carry out its 
licensing functions and decision making processes. 

Page 33



Equalities: 

 
There no diversity or equality implications contained within this report.  
 

Other Implications: 

 
None 
 

Reason(s) for Urgency:  

 
Not applicable 
 

Reason(s) for Exemption: 

 
Not applicable 
 

Background Papers 

 
Appendix One:  Revised draft Statement of Gambling Policy 
 

Report Author and Contact Officer 

 
Julian Alison 

Licensing Manager 

Email: julian.alison@ashfield.gov.uk 

Tel: 01623 457364 

 

Page 34

mailto:julian.alison@ashfield.gov.uk


GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT
OF

GAMBLING POLICY
2022 - 2025

Effective from 31st January 2022 Adopted: TBC (2 nd December 2021)

Page 35



STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY

Gambling Act 2005

Preface

Under the Gambling Act 2005, a new regime for regulating gambling and betting was introduced
throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2007. Apart from the National Lottery and
spread betting, gambling and betting will be regulated by the Gambling Commission, whose duties
include licensing the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and betting facilities.

Ashfield District Council, along with other local licensing authorities, has a duty under the Act
to license premises where gambling is to take place, and to licence other activities (such as
registering small society lotteries). This document sets out how we intend to approach this task.

The Council has consulted various bodies and organisations upon this statement (see
Appendix One). The consultation period ran from 13th September 2021 until 24th October
2021.

Page 36



CONTENTS

SECTION ONE: INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE 1
Introduction 1
Declaration 2
Consultation 2
Local Area Profile 2
Authorised Activities 3
Relationship with Other Legislation 3
‘’Demand” for Gaming Premises 4
Rights of Applicants and Third Parties 4
Data Sharing, Data Security and the Principles of Better Regulation 4
Equality 4

SECTION TWO: LOCAL RISK ASSESSMENTS 5
Public Health 6

SECTION THREE: MAKING REPRESENTATIONS 7
Who Can Make a Representation? 7
Interested Parties 7
 Policy One 7

Form and Content of Representation 8
 Policy Two 9

Irrelevant Considerations 9
Reviews 10

SECTION FOUR: LICENSING OBJECTIVES 11
Preventing Gambling From Being a Source of Crime and Disorder 11
 Policy Three 12

Ensuring Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way 12
Protection of Children & Vulnerable Persons 13
Access to Licensed Premises 13

SECTION FIVE: PREMISES LICENCES 15
General Principles 15
Betting Premises and Tracks 15
General Matters Relevant to Tracks 16
Gaming Machines Used on Tracks 17
Betting Premises in Relation to Tracks 17
Betting Machines on Tracks 18
Condition on Rules Being Displayed on Tracks 18
Applications and Plans for Tracks 18
Adult Gaming Centres 19
Club Gaming Permits and Club Machine Permits 19
Alcohol Licensed Premises 20
Family Entertainment Centres 20
Prize Gaming Permits 21
Travelling Fairs 21
Small Society Lotteries 21
Temporary Use Notices 22
Occasional Use Notices 22
Casinos 22
Bingo 22

Page 37



SECTION SIX: INSPECTION & ENFORCEMENT 24
General Statement 24
Inspections 24
 Policy Four 24

Enforcement 24

Glossary of Terms 26

APPENDICES
Appendix One: List of Bodies & Organisations Consulted 27

Page 38



1. INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

Introduction

1.1 Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act 2005 [“the Act”] imposes a statutory requirement
upon Ashfield District Council as the statutory Licensing Authority [“the Authority”] to
prepare a Statement of Principles [“the Statement”] and to review it from time to
time and every three years.

1.2 The Act sets out three licensing objectives which this Statement will promote. The
three objectives are as follows:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or
exploited by gambling.

In exercising their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, Licensing
Authorities must have regard to the three licensing objectives.

1.3 The aim of the Authority in this Statement is to address the impact of licensed
premises in terms of crime and disorder arising from gambling and to ensure that their
location and internal layout are appropriate with a view to protecting children and
vulnerable persons. The Authority is committed to partnership with all stakeholders with
a view to the promotion of this aim. The Authority recognises the impact that
unregulated gambling may have on its community and sustainability as a viable local
economy and in delivering the gambling regime will, with regard to the principles set
out in this Statement, seek to support its local economy and protect vulnerable people.
In doing so it will consider each application on its own merits within the context of this
Statement, the legislation and guidance and codes of practice issued by the Gambling
Commission.

1.4 The Authority will, in the statutory discharge of its functions have particular regard to
the principles to be applied in exercising its powers:

 under Section 157 of the Act to designate in writing a body competent to advise
the Authority about the protection of children from harm;

 under Section 158 of the Act to determine whether a person is an interested party
in relation to a premises licence or in relation to an application for or in respect of
a premises licence.

1.5 Subject to statutory provision, a review of this Statement will take place periodically
and any revisions to the Statement will be made taking into account information
collated over a period of time; the outcomes of related initiatives at central and local
government level and following appropriate consultation.

1.6 Nothing in this Statement should be regarded or interpreted as any indication that
any statutory requirement of gambling or other law is to be overridden.

1Page 39



Declaration

1.7 The Authority in preparation of this Statement have had due regard to:

 the Gambling Act 2005;
 the Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and

Wales) Regulations 2006;
 guidance issued by the Gambling Commission and by the Secretary of State

under Section 25 of the Act; and
 responses from those consulted on the Statement.

Consultation

1.8 The Gambling Act requires the licensing Authority to consult the following on the
Licensing Authority Statement of Policy or any subsequent revision:

 in England and Wales, the chief officer of police for the Authority’s area;

 one or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s area; and

 one or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of persons
who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s functions under this Act.

In developing this Statement the Authority has consulted widely to ascertain an
appropriate licensing framework for its area. A full list of consultees is shown in
Appendix One.

Local Area Profile

1.9 Ashfield District covers an area of 10,956 hectares and is located on the western side
of Nottinghamshire. It has an estimated population of 121,600 (2013 midyear
estimates). The majority of the population are concentrated within the three main
towns of Sutton in Ashfield, Hucknall and Kirkby in Ashfield together with three large
villages in a substantial rural area mainly to the west of the M1 motorway.

The main towns share a strong historic, economic and cultural links based around the
growth and subsequent decline of the Coal mining, textile and engineering industries.
Traditionally Ashfield is a predominantly a manufacturing area with a cultural heritage,
Newstead Abbey (ancestral home of Lord Byron) lies just over its eastern border and
the Parish Church of St Mary Magdalene in Hucknall is the final resting place of Lord
Byron and the Byron family.

Ashfield has a wealth of country parks, golf courses and development land, and as a
result presents an attractive and clean environment in which to live and work.

1.10 Ashfield district has excellent communication corridors through the A38 and junctions 27
and 28 of the M1, also has close proximity to East Midlands Airport and the Robin hood
railway line runs through the district that connects Nottingham to Worksop with stations
at Sutton Park Way, Kirkby in Ashfield, and Hucknall. Hucknall is also the start of the
Nottingham City Tram service which goes directly to the City Centre.

2Page 40



A local area profile has been prepared based on local knowledge and taking into
account a wide range of factors, data and information held by the licensing authority
and its partners. It is anticipated that the local area profile will give operators a better
awareness of the local area and the risks, which includes both potential and actual
risks.

Authorised Activities

1.11 The Act gives Licensing Authorities a number of important regulatory functions in
relation to gambling. The main functions are to:

 licence premises for gambling activities;
 issue provisional statements for premises;
 consider notices given for the temporary use of premise for gambling;
 grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and miners welfare

institutes;
 regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises;
 grant permits to Family Entertainment Centres for the use of certain lower stake

gaming machines;
 grant permits for prize gaming;
 consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks
 register small society lotteries

NB: Operator licences, Personal Licences and Remote Gambling are all dealt with
by the Gambling Commission.

The National Lottery is now regulated by the Gambling Commission. Spread betting is
regulated by the Financial Services Authority

In carrying out its licensing functions within the framework established by this
Statement, the Authority will have particular regard to:

 maintaining a close working relationship with the responsible authorities;
 taking necessary and appropriate steps for the protection of children and other

vulnerable persons; and
 the need to treat each application on its own merits taking into account the

individual circumstances at each premises.

Relationship with Other Legislation

1.12 In complying with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005, whilst the Authority
recognises the requirements of the following, this Statement is not intended to
duplicate the existing legislation and regulatory orders which incur statutory
obligations.

1.13 In particular, in making a determination in respect of any application, the Authority
will make it decision on the individual merits of each application and will not take into
account irrelevant matters, such as the likelihood of the application receiving planning
permission, or building regulation approval.

3Page 41



“Demand” for Gaming Premises

1.14 The Authority will not consider the demand for gaming premises when making
decisions about applications for a premises licence under the Act.

Rights of Applicants and Third Parties

1.15 This Statement does not override the right of any person to make an application under
the Act and have that application considered on its individual merits.

1.16 Similarly this Statement does not undermine the right of any third party to make
representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence where provision
has been made for them to do so.

Data Sharing, Data Security and the Principles of Better Regulation

1.17 The Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in
its exchange of information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act
1998 will not be contravened. The Authority will also have regard to any Guidance
issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, as well as any relevant
regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the
Gambling Act 2005.

Equality

1.18 The Council aims to act positively to reduce inequality, to work against discrimination
and to promote and create access to services by everyone, irrespective of their age,
disability, race, gender, sexuality, cultural or social background, religion or belief.

4Page 42



2. LOCAL RISK ASSESSMENTS

2.1 The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP)
which were revised and published in February 2015, formalise the need for operators
to consider local risks. Local risk assessments apply to all non-remote casino, adult
gaming centre, bingo, family entertainment centre, betting and remote betting
intermediary (trading room only) licences, except non-remote general betting (limited)
and betting intermediary licences. This provision came into force on 6th April 2016.

2.2 Licensees are required to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by
the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies,
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In undertaking their risk
assessments, they must take into account relevant matters identified in this policy
statement. Such risk assessments should also be retained at the premises.

2.3 Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk assessments:

a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including
those identified in a licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy;

b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect
their mitigation of local risks;

c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and

d) in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new
premises licence.

2.4 Licensees are required to undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new
premises licence. Risk assessment must also be updated:

 when applying for a variation of a premises licence

 to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including
those identified in a licensing authority’s policy statement

 when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect
their mitigation of local risks.

2.6 The new social responsibility provision is supplemented by an ordinary code provision
recommending as good practice that licensees should share their risk assessment with
licensing authorities when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to
existing licensed premises, or otherwise at the request of the licensing authority. Both
provisions took effect from 6th April 2016.

2.7 Where concerns do exist, perhaps prompted by new or existing risks, a licensing
authority may request that the licensee share a copy of its own risk assessment which
will set out the measures the licensee has in place to address specific concerns. This
practice should reduce the occasions on which a premises review and the imposition of
licence conditions is required.

2.8 The licensing authority has an expectation that all local risk assessments will take into
account the local social profile of the area.

5Page 43



Public Health

2.9 The 3 statutory licensing objectives for gambling include protecting children and other
vulnerable persons from harm and exploitation. Licensing policies are not currently
required to address Public Health concerns and Public Health is not a responsible
authority, as in the case of alcohol, however the Gambling Commission has
recognised the benefits of a Public Health whole population approach (February 2018).
The Commission has identified specific groups of people who are particularly at risk:

 Ethnic groups
 Youth
 Low IQ
 Substance abuse / misuse
 Poor mental health.

2.10 It is estimated that there are over 370,000 problem gamblers in England. There are no
local level estimates available. Gambling harm includes poor physical and mental ill-
health and is associated with substance misuse problems especially alcohol and with
smoking. It also contributes to debt problems, relationship breakdown and criminality.

2.11 There is less evidence available to support Gambling Statement of Licensing Policies
at a local level. Nationally there is a significant amount of gambling that takes place on
the internet which reduces barriers to where people can gamble.

2.12 Problem gambling is linked with areas of socio-economic deprivation, so identifying
areas with potentially higher levels of gambling harm can therefore be informed by the
alcohol licensing maps. A map providing details of these areas can be found online at:
www.nottinghamshireinsight.org.uk/d/205125

6Page 44



3. MAKING REPRESENTATIONS

Who Can Make a Representation?

3.1 The Gambling Act allows “responsible authorities” (identified in section 157 of the Act)
and “interested parties” to make representations to applications relating to premises
licences and provisional statements. In the case of reviews, that right is also given
to the licensee. With regard to other forms of notification and permit, the right to
object is restricted to specified bodies. The following section therefore only relates
to representations in respect of premises licences and provisional statements.

3.2 Premises licences are only necessary for the types of gambling listed below and
interested parties may therefore only make representations in respect of:
 Casino premises
 Bingo premises
 Betting premises (including tracks)
 Adult gaming centres
 Licensed family entertainment centres

Interested Parties

3.3 Interested parties are defined as persons who in the Authority’s opinion:
 live sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised

activities;
 have business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
 represent either of the above.

Policy One

3.4 In determining if someone lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to
be affected by the authorised activities or have business interests that are
likely to be affected, the Authority will normally take any or all of the following
into account which appear relevant to it to ensure that those who are likely to
be directly affected by the proposed activities can exercise their right to be
heard:
 the proximity of their home or business to the application premises;

 the nature of their residency (e.g. private resident, resident in home for
the vulnerable etc);

 the nature of the business making the representation;
 the nature of the authorised activities to be conducted on the application

premises;
 the size and capacity of the application premises;
 the likely catchment area for the application premises;
 the routes likely to be taken to and from the application premises;
 the character of the area;
 the density of the built up area; and
 the topography of the area
 local area profile
 mitigating measures contained within the applicants risk assessments

REASON: To ensure that those who are likely to be directly affected by the
proposed activities can exercise their right to be heard.

7Page 45



3.5 The Authority will interpret the phrase “business interest” widely and not merely
confine the phrase to meaning those engaged in trade and commerce. It may
therefore, include charities, churches, medical practices, schools and other
establishments and institutions.

3.6 Similarly a wide interpretation will be given to those categories of persons and
organisations that represent residents and businesses. These may include
residents and tenants associations, trade unions and other associations, as well as
individuals whose role is to represent the interests of one or more residents or
businesses such as a councillor, MP or legal representative.

3.7 If an existing gambling business makes a representation that it is going to be
affected by another gambling business starting up in the area, then without further
evidence relating to the licensing objectives supporting the representation, the
Authority would not consider this to be a relevant representation because it relates
to “demand” or competition.

3.8 It is for the Authority to determine on a case by case basis whether or not a person
making a representation is an “interested party”. The Authority may ask for
evidence to identify who is being represented and show that they have given
authority for representations to be made on their behalf. In cases which are not
clear-cut the benefit of the doubt will usually be exercised in favour of the person
making the representation.

Form and Content of Representation

3.9 The Act places a duty on the Authority to aim to permit the use of premises for
gambling in so far as the Authority thinks the application is in accordance with:

 this Policy Statement,
 the Commission’s Guidance,
 local area profile and applicants local risk assessments
 the Codes of Practice, and
 where the application is reasonably in accordance with the licensing objectives.

3.10 As these are the criteria against which an application is to be assessed
representations which address these issues are more likely to be accepted and given
weight.

3.11 All representations must be made in writing and must be received by the Authority within
the time limits set by the relevant regulations. For a representation to be relevant it
should:

 be positively tied or linked by a causal connection to particular premises; and
 relate to the licensing objectives, or
 raise issues under this policy, the Commission’s Guidance or Codes of Practice.

3.12 Representations received outside the statutory period for making such
representations or which otherwise does not comply with the Regulations will be
invalid and will not be taken into consideration when the application is determined. In
addition, the Authority expects representations to be made in accordance with Policy
Two.

8Page 46



Policy Two

3.13 A representation should indicate the following:
(i) the name, address and a contact number for the person making the

representation;
(ii) the capacity in which the representation is made (e.g. interested party,

responsible authority, licensee) and if made as a representative should
indicate who is being represented;

(iii) the name and address of the premises in respect of which the
representation is being made;

(iv) the licensing objective(s) relevant to the representation;
(v) why it is felt that the application:

 is not reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; or

 is not in accordance with this Policy, the Commission’s Guidance or
the relevant Codes of Practice; or

 the local risk assessments are not considered suitable and sufficient;
or

 otherwise should not be granted; or

 should only be granted subject to certain specified conditions;
(vi) details of the evidence supporting the opinion in (v).

REASON: To ensure the representation is made by a responsible authority or
interested party and that it is relevant and directly related to the application
premises.

3.14 A preferred form of representation is available. A copy of the form can be downloaded at
www.ashfield.gov.uk or requested directly from the licensing team. Whilst
representations which are not in the preferred form or which do not fully comply with
Policy Two will not automatically be rejected, they may be less likely to comply with the
law relating to representations resulting in them ultimately being rejected or given little or
no weight.

3.15 Ordinarily, where representations are received, the Authority will hold a Hearing,
however, a Hearing does not have to be held where the Authority thinks that a
representation is frivolous, vexatious, or will certainly not influence the Authority’s
determination of the matter. It is for the Authority to determine whether a
representation falls within these categories, however, representations which comply
with Policy Two are unlikely to do so.

3.16 It is in the interest of those making representations that they include as much detail and
evidence as possible at the time the representation is made. The Authority will determine
whether a representation should be excluded as frivolous or vexatious based on the
normal interpretation of the words. A representation may therefore be excluded if it
obviously lacks seriousness or merit, or is designed to be antagonistic. An example may
be a representation received form a rival operator which is based solely on the fact that
the new premises would compete with their own.

Irrelevant Considerations

3.17 Whilst not intended to provide an exhaustive list the following matters cannot be taken
into account and representations relating to them are likely to be discounted:
 need and demand for the relevant premises;
 issues relating to nuisance;

9Page 47



 traffic congestion and parking.
 Likelihood of the premise receiving planning permission or building regulation

approval

3.18 Any person seeking to operate gambling premises must first have applied for, or
obtained, an operating licence from the Gambling Commission. The Commission will
therefore have made a judgement as to the applicant’s suitability to operate the
proposed form of gambling and therefore this issue is not relevant to the subsequent
assessment of the premises licence application.

The only exception is in relation to track premises licences. In this case an operator’s
licence is not required and the suitability of the applicant may, in appropriate cases,
be taken into consideration.

Reviews

3.19 A premises licence may be reviewed by the licensing authority of its own volition or
following the receipt of an application for a review from a responsible authority or
interested party. Reviews cannot be delegated to an officer of the licensing authority
– the lowest level of delegation permitted is to a licensing sub-committee (licensing
panel).

3.20 The Act provides that licensing authorities may initiate a review in relation to a
particular class of premises licence or in relation to particular premises. Officers of
the Council or of a responsible authority may be involved in the initial investigations
of complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute resolution
techniques prior to a full scale review being conducted.

3.21 If at any time the Authority considers it necessary in their scheme of delegation, they
will establish a system that determines who initiates reviews, and that may include a
‘filter’ system to prevent unwarranted reviews from being conducted.

3.22 In relation to a class of premises, the Authority may review the use made of premises
and, in particular, the arrangements that premises licence holders have made to comply
with licence conditions.

In relation to these general reviews, the Authority would most likely be acting as a result
of specific concerns or complaints about particular types of premises, which would cause
it to want, for example, to look at the default conditions that apply to that category of
licence.

In relation to particular premises, the Authority may review any matter connected to the
use made of the premises if it has reason to suspect that licence conditions are not being
observed, or for any other reason (such as a complaint from a third party) which gives it
cause to believe that a review may be appropriate.

3.23 Representations and review applications will be considered by the Authority in
accordance with the relevant legislation, guidance issued by the Commission, this
Statement of Principles, Codes of Practice, local area profile and the premises licence
holders local risk assessments.

10Page 48



4.0 LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Preventing Gambling From Being a Source of Crime and Disorder

4.1 The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling from
becoming a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that
aim to prevent inappropriate people from providing facilities for gambling.

4.2 The Authority places considerable importance on the prevention of crime and
disorder, and will fulfil its duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act
1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area. A high
standard of control is therefore expected to be exercised over licensed premises.
The Authority will not generally be concerned with the suitability of an applicant
and where concerns about a person’s suitability arises the Authority will bring
those concerns to the attention of the Commission.

4.3 The Authority will, when determining applications, consider whether the grant of a
premises licence will result in an increase in crime and disorder. In considering
licence applications, the Authority will particularly take into account the applicants
local risk assessments which should include reference to the following:

 the design and layout of the premises;
 the training given to staff in crime prevention measures appropriate to those

premises;
 physical security features installed in the premises. This may include matters

such as
 the position of cash registers or the standard of CCTV that is installed;
 where premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures in place to

conduct age
 verification checks;
 the likelihood of any violence, public order or policing problem if the licence is

granted.

4.4 Where an application is received in relation to premises in an area noted for
particular problems with organised crime, part of this determination will include
consultation with the police and other relevant authorities. The Authority may then
consider whether specific controls, such as a requirement for the provision of door
supervisors, need to be applied in order to prevent those premises being a source
of crime. In respect of betting offices the Authority will make door supervision
requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the
premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and
that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate.

4.5 As far as disorder is concerned, there are already powers in existing anti-social
behaviour and other legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent
nuisance, whether it arises as a result of noise from a building or from general
disturbance once people have left a building. The Authority does not therefore
intend to use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues, for example, parking
problems, which can easily be dealt with using alternative powers. The Authority
has no jurisdiction under the Act to deal with general nuisance issues.

4.6 In accordance with the Guidance, the Authority will only seek to address issues of
disorder under the Act if the disorder amounts to activity which is more serious and
disruptive than mere nuisance.

11Page 49



A disturbance could be serious enough to constitute disorder if police assistance
were required to deal with it. Another factor the Authority is likely to take into account
is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it, whether
those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have business interests that
might be affected.

4.7 The Authority will consult with the police and other relevant authorities when
making decisions in this regard and will give due weight to any comments made
by the police or other relevant authorities.

Policy Three

4.8 The Authority will have particular regard to the likely impact of licensing on
related crime and disorder in the district, particularly when considering the
location, impact, operation and management of all proposed licence
applications.

REASON: Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 local authorities must have
regard to the likely effect of the exercise of their functions on, and do all they
can to prevent, crime and disorder in their area.

Ensuring Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way

4.9 The Gambling Commission does not expect local authorities to become concerned
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will either
be a matter for the management of the gambling business (and therefore relevant
to the Operating Licence), or will be in relation to the suitability and actions of an
individual (and therefore relevant to the Personal Licence).

4.10 Both issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and
personal licensing regime. This is achieved by ensuring that:
 operating and personal licences are issued only to those who are suitable to

offer gambling facilities or work in the industry;
 easily understandable information is made available by operators to players

about, for example: the rules of the game, the probability of losing or winning,
and the terms and conditions on which business is conducted;

 the rules are fair;
 advertising is not misleading;
 the results of events and competitions on which commercial gambling takes

place are made public; and
 machines, equipment and software used to produce the outcome of games

meet
 standards set by the Commission and operate as advertised.

4.11 Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the
Commission, the Authority may, in certain circumstances attach conditions to a
licence to ensure that the betting is conducted in a fair and open way.

The Authority may in these circumstances also consider the suitability of the
Applicant to hold a track premises licence. Factors which will be taken into account
include the applicant’s business experience, their financial standing and whether
they may be regarded as fit and proper to hold a licence.

12Page 50



Protection of Children & Vulnerable Persons

Access to Licensed Premises

4.12 The access of children and young person’s to those gambling premises which are adult
only environments will not be permitted.

4.13 The Authority will seek to limit the advertising for premises so that gambling products
are not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly
attractive to children.

4.14 The Authority will consult with the Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Children’s
Partnership and the Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Adults Board on any application
that indicates there may be concerns over access for children or vulnerable persons.

4.15 The Authority will judge the merits of each separate application before deciding whether
to impose conditions to protect children on particular categories of premises. The Authority
will expect applicants to show that there are policies and procedures in place to protect
children from harm. Harm, in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes
wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such policies and procedures will
each be considered on their merits, however, they may include such measures as:

 supervision of entrances;
 segregation of gambling areas from areas frequented by children;
 measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised young

children
 being on the premises;
 supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises;
 appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children

on the premises.

4.16 The Act provides for a Code of Practice on access to casino premises by children and
young persons and the Authority will work closely with the Police to ensure the
appropriate enforcement of the law in these types of premises.

4.17 In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Authority will not seek to prohibit
particular groups of adults from gambling in the same way that it seeks to prohibit
children. The Act does not define “vulnerable persons” but the Gambling Commission’s
guidance indicates that they include:

 People who gamble more than they want to;
 People who gamble beyond their means;
 People who may not be able to make an informed or balanced decision about

gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.

The Authority will follow this guidance when considering whether, in relation to particular
premises, any special considerations apply in relation to the protection of vulnerable
persons.

4.18 The Authority encourages Applicants to offer controls that limit access by customers
to gambling or further access to alcohol where the customer shows signs of inebriation.

13Page 51



4.19 Where the legislation allows, the Authority will look particularly closely at
applications that are made for premises close to sensitive areas or developments,
for example:

 Residential areas
 Schools and other educational establishments
 Residential hostels for vulnerable adults
 Premises licensed for alcohol or gambling

14Page 52



5. PREMISES LICENCES

General Principles

5.1 In the Act, ‘premises’ is defined as including any place. Section 152 prevents more
than one premises licence applying to any place. However a single building could
be subject to more than one premises licence, provided that they are for different
parts of the building and different parts of the building can reasonably be regarded
as being different premises.

This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a
pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises licences for
units within them. The Authority will pay particular attention if there are issues about
the sub-division of a single building or plot and will ensure that mandatory
conditions relating to access between such premises are observed.

In relation to an application to split existing licensed premises thereby creating
multiple premises, the Authority will expect the primary use of each premises to be
the main business in accordance with the type of licence held. Any activities other
than the primary use will be considered ancillary to the main business.

5.2 The procedure for obtaining Premises Licences is set by regulations. Should a
licence be granted it will be made subject to mandatory and/or default conditions set
by the Secretary of State. The Authority may choose to exclude default conditions if it
thinks it appropriate and may also impose other specific conditions which are
appropriate to the application.

5.3 The Gambling Commission plays a leading role in preventing gambling from being a
source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that aim to prevent
criminals from providing facilities for gambling.

With the exception of applicants for track premises anyone applying to the Authority for
a premises licence will have to hold an operating licence from the Commission before a
licence can be issued. Generally therefore the Authority will not be concerned with the
suitability of an applicant. Where concerns arise about a person’s suitability, the
Authority will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.

5.4 The licensing authority will however be concerned with issues such as the impact of
the licensed premises in terms of crime and disorder and matters such as the
location of the premises and their internal layout in terms of protecting children and
vulnerable persons. Such issues are discussed in more detail in the paragraphs
below relating to the specific types of gambling premises. See local risk
assessments at section 2.

Betting Premises and Tracks

5.5 Betting premises relates to those premises operating off-course betting. That is other
than at a track.

5.6 Tracks are sites where races or other sporting events take place. Betting operators
may operate self-contained betting premises within track premises although they
would normally only open on event days. There may be several licensed premises
at any track.

15Page 53



5.7 Permitted activities include:

 off-course betting;
 on-course betting for tracks;
 betting by way of betting machines, and;
 gaming machines as stipulated by regulations.

5.8 Factors for consideration when determining the application will be:

 location, particularly in relation to vulnerable persons;
 suitability of the premises;
 size of premises in relation to the number of betting machines;
 the ability of staff to monitor the use or abuse of such machines and;
 the provision for licence holders to ensure appropriate age limits are adhered to.

5.9 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any
effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.

5.10 Conditions may be applied by the Authority in support of the licensing objectives if it
is felt necessary. Mandatory or default conditions may be attached by regulations
issued by the Secretary of State.

General Matters Relevant to Tracks

5.11 Ashfield does not have any Tracks within its area, however for guidance, Tracks may
be subject to one or more premises licences provided each licence relates to a
specified area of the track.

The Authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective
(i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited
by gambling) in the determination of premises licence applications for tracks and the
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children
are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

5.12 Track operators are not required to hold an operator’s licence granted by the
Gambling Commission unless they are operating gambling activities themselves.
Therefore, premises licences for tracks issued by the Authority are likely to contain
requirements for premises licence holders relevant to their responsibilities in relation
to the proper conduct of betting.

The Authority recognises that Track operators will have an important role to play in
the regulation of gambling activities expect that they will take proactive action
appropriate to that role. For example, in ensuring that betting areas are properly
administered and supervised.

5.15 The Authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate
suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult-only gaming
facilities. It is noted that children and young person’s will be permitted to enter track
areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse
racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming
machines (other than category D machines) are provided.

16Page 54



5.16 Applicants are encouraged to offer their own measures to meet the licensing
objectives, however, appropriate measures/licence conditions imposed by the
Authority may cover issues such as:

 proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 supervision of entrances / machine areas
 physical separation of areas
 location of entrances
 notices / signage
 specific opening hours
 self-barring schemes
 provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers / website addresses for

organisations such as GamCare and Gamblers Anonymous

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example
measures.

Gaming Machines used on Tracks

5.17 Guidance from the Gambling Commission addresses where such machines may be
located on tracks and any special considerations that should apply in relation, for
example, to supervision of the machines and preventing children from playing them.

The Authority notes the Commission's Guidance that licensing authorities therefore need
to consider the location of gaming machines at tracks, and applications for track
premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the applicant holds a pool betting
operating licence and is going to use his entitlement to four gaming machines, these
machines are located in areas from which children are excluded.

Children and young persons are not prohibited from playing category D gaming
machines on a track.

Betting Premises in Relation to Tracks

5.18 A Track may hold a betting premises licence allowing betting to take place within
defined areas.

There may also be a number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling
activities to take place including off-course betting.

Unlike betting offices (bookmakers), a betting premises licence in respect of a track
does not give an automatic entitlement to use gaming machines.

Pool betting may also take place on certain types of tracks and the appropriate
operating licence to enable this will be required before a premises licence authorising
this activity may be determined by the Authority.

5.19 In line with the Commission’s Guidance, the Authority will expect operators of self-
contained units on tracks to seek an ordinary betting premises licence to ensure that
there is clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the
off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises.

17Page 55



Betting Machines on Tracks

5.20 The Authority will take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to
monitor the use of these machines by children and young persons (it is an offence
for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the
number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer.

It will also take note of the Gambling Commission's suggestion that licensing
authorities will want to consider restricting the number and location of such machines
in respect of applications for Track Betting Premises Licences.

5.22 When considering whether to exercise its power to restrict the number of betting
machines at a track, the Council will consider the circumstances of each individual
application and, among other things will consider the potential space for the number
of machines requested, the ability of track staff to supervise the machines, especially
if they are scattered around the site, and the ability of the track operator to prevent
children and young persons and vulnerable people betting on the machines.

Condition on Rules Being Displayed on Tracks

5.23 The Gambling Commission has advised in its Guidance for local authorities that
“...licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises licences requiring
the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the
betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available
to the public.

For example, the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet
form from the track office.”

The Authority encourages applicants to demonstrate in their application and in the
conduct of their activity that they will comply with this.

Applications and Plans for Tracks

5.24 Regulations set out specific requirements for applications for premises licences
and, in accordance with the Gambling Commission's suggestion that, to ensure the
Authority gains a proper understanding of what it is being asked to licence, the
premises licence application pack for a track includes the information that is
required which includes detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area(s) that
will be used for temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting
ring”) and in the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses, fixed and mobile pool
betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as any other
proposed gambling facilities.

Plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the track
betting premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a
separate application for a different type of premises licence.

The Council appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of
betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are provided
is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with
pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.

18Page 56



Applicants should provide sufficient information that the council can be satisfied that
the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in
particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” (commonly known as
betting rings) must be indicated on the plan. It would be helpful to the Authority and
the Responsible Authorities if the plans were marked using a colour-coded scheme
or, at a minimum, by use of a key to denote the use of those areas shown.

Adult Gaming Centres (AGC’s)

5.25 These premises must be operated by the holder of a gaming machine general
operating licence from the Gambling Commission as well as a premises licence
from the Authority.

5.26 Permitted activities include the provision of gaming machines as stipulated by
regulations.

5.27 Factors for consideration when determining the application for an AGC will include:

 the location; and
 the ability of operators to minimise illegal access by under 18’s to the premises.

5.28 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any
effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.

5.29 Conditions may be applied by the Authority in support of the licensing objectives, if
it is felt necessary. Mandatory or default conditions may be attached by regulations
issued by the Secretary of State. No one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter
an AGC.

Club Gaming Permits and Club Machine Permits

5.30 Club gaming permits authorise qualifying clubs to provide gaming machines as well
as equal chance gaming and games of chance as prescribed in regulations.

5.31 Club machine permits allow the provision of higher category gaming machines.

5.32 Commercial clubs may in some circumstances operate with club machine permits
but not club gaming permits.

5.33 The Authority may only refuse an application on the following grounds:
(a) the applicant does not fulfill the requirements for a members’ or commercial club

or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of
permit for which it has applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young
person’s;

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the
applicant while providing gaming facilities;

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police;

and in the case of (a) or (b) must refuse the permit.

5.34 The authority may grant or refuse a permit, but it may not attach conditions to a
permit.

19Page 57



Alcohol Licensed Premises

5.35 The Act provides an automatic entitlement to provide two gaming machines of
category C or D. The premises licence holder must notify the Authority of his or her
intention and pay the prescribed fee. Although the Authority has no discretion to
refuse the notification, the authorisation may be removed if gaming has taken place
on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the Act.

5.36 The Authority may also issue “licensed premises gaming machine permits” to
premises in this category on application for any additional number of category C
and/or D machines. This would generally replace any automatic entitlement under
section 282 of the Act.

5.37 The Authority must have regard to the licensing objectives and the Gambling
Commission Guidance when granting these permits. Factors for consideration will
include:

 location, particularly in relation to vulnerable persons;
 suitability of the premises, size of premises in relation to the number of

betting
 machines;
 the ability of staff to monitor the use or abuse of such machines; and
 the provision for licence holders to ensure appropriate age limits are adhered to.

5.38 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any
effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.

5.39 It is a condition of the automatic entitlement to make available two gaming
machines (of category C or D) that any relevant provision of a code of practice
under section 24 about the location and operation of a gaming machine is complied
with. The authority will take account of these provisions. The relevant codes of
practice are available on the Gambling Commission’s website:
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

Family Entertainment Centres

5.40 There are two classes of Family Entertainment Centres (FEC’s) dependent upon the
type of gaming machines provided on the premises:

 FEC’s with category C and D machines require a Premises Licence.
 Unlicensed FEC’s provide only category D machines and are regulated through

FEC gaming machine permits.

An application for a permit may only be granted if the Authority is satisfied that the
premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the Police have been consulted
on the application. Applicants will need to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is
permissible in unlicensed FEC’s;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (i.e. those set out in Schedule 7 of
 the Act); and
 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and

prizes.
20Page 58



5.41 In considering applications for permits, the Authority will give weight to child
protection issues and will also consider the suitability of the location, in particular the:

 proximity of premises to schools and vulnerable adult centres (e.g. a centre for
gambling addicts);

 proximity to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families
with children;

 town centre or edge of town centre locations.

5.42 It should be noted that a permit cannot be issued in respect of a vessel or a vehicle.

5.43 An applicant must be 18 years of age or over. Relevant convictions will be taken into
account, especially with respect to child protection issues.

Prize Gaming Permits

5.44 These permits cover gaming where the nature and size of the prize is not determined
by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming - the
prize is determined by the operator before play commences.

5.46 Consideration will be given to the following factors:

 proximity of premises to schools and vulnerable adult centres (e.g. a centre for
gambling addicts);

 proximity to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families
with children;

 town centre or edge of town centre locations.

5.47 It should be noted that a permit cannot be issued in respect of a vessel or a vehicle.

5.48 The applicant must be 18 years of age or over. Relevant convictions will be taken into
account, especially with respect to child protection issues.

Travelling Fairs

5.49 Provided a travelling fair allows only category D gaming machines to be made
available, and the facilities for gambling (whether by way of gaming machine or
otherwise) amount together to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair,
then no application for a licence is required under the Act. The Authority will want
to satisfy itself from time to time that gambling at a travelling fair is within the
definition of section 286 of the Act. A guide for those wishing to operate gambling
machines at travelling fairs is available on the Commission website.

Small Society Lotteries

5.50 Small society lotteries are distinguished from large society lotteries by the amount of
the proceeds that they generate. A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on
sale in a single lottery is £20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put
on sale in a calendar year is £250,000 or less. Other lotteries are dealt with by the
Gambling Commission.

5.51 Small society lotteries are required to be registered with the local authority in the area
where their principal office is located.

21Page 59



Temporary Use Notices

5.52 Premises which are not licensed for gambling may be used by a licensed operator
for an aggregate period of 21 days in 12 months for prescribed types of gambling. In
order to do so, the operator must serve a temporary use notice (or notices) on the
Authority, the Commission and the Police. These are the only bodies who may object
to such a notice. There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use
Notices. It is noted that it falls to the Authority to decide what constitutes a “set of
premises” where Temporary Use Notices are received relating to the same
building/site (see Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities).

Occasional Use Notices

5.53 Betting on unlicensed tracks may be authorised for up to 8 days in a calendar year
by the service of occasional use notices by the occupier of the track or the person
responsible for the administration of the event.

The Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring
that the statutory limit of eight days in a calendar year is not exceeded. The Authority
will need to consider whether a Notice in respect of premises can be dealt with under
the definition of a “Track”. It will also need to consider whether the Applicant is
permitted to avail him/herself of the notice, however, there is no provision for
objections to be made to this type of activity or for it to be prohibited.

Casinos

5.54 The Authority has passed a “no Casino resolution” under Section 166 of the Gambling
Act 2005. This means that it has taken the decision not to issue any casino premises
licences in the district of Ashfield.

Bingo

5.55 The holder of a bingo operating licence can apply for a bingo premises licence to
provide any type of bingo game, including cash and prize bingo. Commercial bingo
halls will also require a bingo premises licence from the Authority.

5.57 If the only type of bingo to be provided is prize bingo then this may be authorised by
way of permit.

5.58 If children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo it is important that that
they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines. Where
category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are
admitted the Authority will expect to see that:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent
access other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults (over 18s) are admitted to the area where the machines are
located;

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed

by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to, and inside any such an area, there are prominently displayed

notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.
22Page 60



5.59 The Gambling Commission has issued guidance about the need for licensing
authorities to take into account the suitability and layout of bingo premises. Therefore,
plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the bingo
premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate
application for a different type of premises licence. It would be helpful to the Authority
and the Responsible Authorities if the plans were marked using a colour-coded
scheme or at a minimum by use of a key to denote the use of those areas shown.
The Gambling Commission has issued guidance on the division of a building into
more than one premises which can be found at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.

5.60 A limited number of gaming machines may also be made available at bingo licensed
premises.

5.61 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming and is permitted in alcohol licensed premises
and in clubs, provided it remains below a certain threshold as directed by the law,
otherwise it will require a bingo operating licence which will have to be obtained from
the Gambling Commission.

5.62 Developers may wish to apply to the Authority for a provisional statement before
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a
development is worth taking forward in the light of a need to obtain a premises
licence.

There is no need to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional
statement.

23Page 61



6. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

General Statement

6.1 The authority will have regard to its General / Corporate Enforcement Policy and the
Regulators Code, the relevant provisions of the Act, any relevant guidance and / or
codes of practice when considering taking enforcement action.

6.2 It is the intention of the authority to establish and maintain enforcement protocols with other
enforcement agencies.

Inspections

6.3 The authority will inspect gambling premises and facilities for compliance with the Act
and any licence conditions through the application of a risk based inspection programme.

6.4 The inspection programme will, in principle, operate a light touch in respect of low-risk
premises whilst applying greater attention to those premises which are considered to
present a higher risk.

6.5 In addition to programmed inspections, the licensing authority will also investigate any
evidence based complaints that it receives.

Policy Four

6.6 The authority will adopt a risk based assessment approach for determining the
frequency of compliance inspections. The risk rating will be based broadly on
the following factors:

 location of the premises and their impact on the surrounding area;
 enforcement history of the premises;
 nature of the licensed or permitted operation;
 potential to have an adverse affect on the licensing objectives; and
 management record.

REASON: To provide a targeted and cost-efficient enforcement service which
will encourage and improve operating practice, promote the licensing
objectives, and drive out poor practices; whilst at the same time meet accepted
best practice principles of compliance inspection.

Enforcement

6.7 In general, the Gambling Commission will take the lead on the investigation and where
appropriate, the prosecution of illegal gambling. There may be occasions in which the
licensing authority is better placed to take the lead, particularly where there is illegal
activity on a smaller scale confined to the authority’s area.

6.8 Where a licensed premise is situated in more than one administrative area then this
authority will liaise with the other authority to determine the most appropriate course of
action and who will lead any investigation or prosecution.

6.9 Part 15 of the Act gives “authorised persons” power of investigation and section 346
enables licensing authorities to institute criminal proceedings in respect of offences
described in that section.

24Page 62



In exercising these functions, the licensing authority will endeavour to follow the
Better Regulation Principles. The principles require that enforcement should be:

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: Remedies
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;

 Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to
public scrutiny;

 Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;

 Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user
friendly; and

 Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side
effects.

6.10 The licensing authority will work closely with the Gambling Commission and
exchange information on suspected illegal gambling and any proposed action that
the authority considers necessary.

6.11 The main enforcement and compliance role for the licensing authority in terms of the
Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other
permissions which it authorises.

The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for Operator and Personal
Licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of
gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to
the Gambling Commission.

6.12 The authority may institute proceedings in respect of a number of offences as
identified in section 346 of the Act.

6.13 The authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes.

25Page 63



Glossary of Terms

Many of the terms used in this statement of licensing policy are defined in the appropriate
section of the Act. Section 353 identifies various terminologies and directs the reader to the
relevant section of the Act, where appropriate, for a full and complete meaning of the term.

In the interests of clarity the following terms, which are used in this statement of licensing
policy, are defined below:

Terminology Definition

“the Act” The Gambling Act 2005 (c19)
“Authority” This refers to the “licensing authority” as defined

by section 2 of the Act
“authorised person” An officer of a licensing authority, and an

officer of an authority other than a
licensing authority, both of whom have been
authorised for a purpose relating to premises in
that authority’s area

“authorised local authority officer” An officer of a licensing authority who is an
authorised person for a purpose relating to
premises in that authority’s area

“gambling commission” An organisation established under section
20 of the Act that is responsible for
regulating gambling in Great Britain

“guidance” “Guidance to licensing authorities”, ,
issued by the gambling commission under
section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005

“interested parties” Defined at paragraph 2.3 of this statement of
licensing principles

“mandatory condition” A condition that must be placed on a licence by
virtue of regulations

“regulations” Refers to regulations made under the
Gambling Act 2005

“responsible authorities” Public bodies that must be notified of
applications for premises licences and they
also have the right to make
representations in relation to those
applications. They are listed in full in
section 157 of the Act.

26Page 64



APPENDIX ONE

List of Bodies and Organisations Consulted

1. District Councillors

2. Directors and relevant Business Managers

3. Betting Shops/Bookmakers

4. Bingo Halls

5. Amusement Arcades

6. Parish & Town Councils

7. Town Centre Partnerships

8. Pub Watch

9. Nottinghamshire Police

10. Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue

11. Licensing Solicitors

12. Gamblers Anonymous

13. Nottinghamshire County Council Safeguarding Children Partnership

14. British Casino Association

15. Casino Operators Association of the U.K.

16. British Amusement Catering Trades Association

17. The Bingo Association

18. British Beer & Pub Association Midlands

19. Association of British Bookmakers

20. Gambling Commission

21. H.M. Customs & Excise

22. Members of Parliament

27Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report To: COUNCIL 

Date: 2 DECEMBER 2021 

Heading: MINUTES OF CABINET AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

Portfolio Holder: LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

Ward/s:  N/A 

Key Decision: N/A 

Subject to Call-In: N/A 

 

Purpose of Report 

 
To present a list of minutes of Cabinet and Committee meetings which have been published since 
the last ordinary meeting of the Council and for Members to consider whether they wish to give 
notice of their intention to ask a question of the relevant Chairman under Council Procedure Rule 
13.2.  Questions are limited to a maximum of two per Member. 
 
 
MINUTES PUBLISHED SINCE 23 SEPTEMBER 2021. 
 
 
The minutes are accessible via the Council’s website: 
 
https://democracy.ashfield.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1 
 
 

Committee Meeting:  Date of Meeting: 
 

Planning Committee 25 August 2021 
6 October 2021 

Licensing Committee 9 September 2021 
11 November 2021 

Cabinet 20 September 2021 
 

Scrutiny Panel A 14 October 2021 
 

Audit Committee 18 October 2021 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 12

https://democracy.ashfield.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1


Scrutiny Panel B 28 October 2021 
 

 

Report Author and Contact Officer 

Ruth Dennis 
DIRECTOR OF LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE 
r.dennis@ashfield.gov.uk 
01623 457009 

Page 68

mailto:r.dennis@ashfield.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 23 September 2021.
	7b Safer Streets Funding and Initiatives.
	8 In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2 (ix), to receive recommendations from the Cabinet and the Council's Committees and resolve in accordance with the Council's rules of debate as per the attached schedule.
	Recommendation Schedule - Appendix A
	Review of the Statement of Gambling Policy Report
	Enc. 1 for Review of the Statement of Gambling Policy


	12 To receive a list of minutes and a web link to access Cabinet and Committee meeting minutes that have been published since the last ordinary meeting of the Council for Members to give notice of their intention to ask a question of a relevant Chairman under Procedure Rule 13.2.



